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I. statement, findings, and conclusions

1. This is a civil penalty assessment proceeding brought by the Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) against the Respondent, Colorado Cab Company, LLC (Colorado Cab).

2. In August 2007, the Commission issued Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 84642 to Colorado Cab seeking civil penalties of $12,375 (or $6,187.50 if paid within ten days).  Staff Criminal Investigator John Opeka cited Colorado Cab with 34 violations of the Commission’s Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6.  Specifically, CPAN No. 84642 cited Colorado Cab for:

a) One violation of 4 CCR 723-6-6102, 49 C.F.R. 390.35(b) [Count 1]; 

b) Thirteen violations of 4 CCR 723-6-6102, 49 C.F.R. 395.8(a) [Counts 2 through 14]; and

c) Twenty violations of 4 CCR 723-6-6102, 49 C.F.R. 396.3(b)(3) [Counts 15 through 24];

The violation alleged in Count 1 may result in the assessment of a civil penalty up to $2,500 for each violation.  The violations alleged in Counts 2 through 14 may result in the assessment of a civil penalty up to $375 for each violation. The violations alleged in Counts 15 through 34 may result in the assessment of a civil penalty up to $250 for each violation.

3. Staff and Colorado Cab are the only parties to this docket.   

4. The Commission referred this matter to an administrative law judge for resolution during its weekly meeting held September 11, 2007.

5. On September 19, 2007, the Commission issued an Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing.    

6. By Decision No. R07-0902-I, the hearing was vacated and the parties were directed to reduce the reported settlement to writing and file it with the Commission on or before November 30, 2007.  By Decision No. R07-1014-I, the deadline was subsequently extended to December 12, 2007.

7. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the Administrative Law Judge now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

8. On December 12, 2007, the Joint Motion to Approve Stipulation and Settlement Agreement and Waive Response Time was filed by Staff and Colorado Cab along with the Stipulation and Settlement Agreement (Stipulation) as a complete and final resolution of all issues in this docket.  The agreement was reached in the spirit of compromise and in consideration of the hazards of litigation.  Approval of the settlement reached will minimize expenses of litigation and promote administrative efficiency.

9. Approval of the settlement will not have a precedential affect upon other Commission matters.  See Colorado Ute Elec. Ass’n, Inc. v. PUC, 602 P.2d 861, 865 (Colo. 1979); B & M Serv., Inc. v. PUC, 429 P.2d 293, 296 (Colo. 1967).
10. The parties have agreed to the dismissal of Count 1.  The Stipulation provides that the allegation was made on the basis of discrepancies between certain entries on driver trip sheets.  However, no further investigation was made to determine whether the discrepancies were mistakes, inadvertent, or otherwise unintentional.  Colorado Cab strongly disagrees that the discrepancies were intentional or fraudulent.  Staff believes the dismissal is appropriate on the facts and circumstances of this case only.

11. Colorado Cab admits liability for counts 2 through 34 and civil penalty assessment notice.  The Stipulation provides for the assessment of a civil penalty against Colorado Cab in the amount of $9,875 for counts 2 through 34, with $2,875 held in abeyance under the terms of the Stipulation.

12. Colorado Cab will pay $7,000 to the Commission within ten days of a final decision of the Commission in this case.

13. Within 30 days after the final decision in this case, Colorado Cab will submit a corrective action report with respect to Counts 2 through 34 of the CPAN to Staff, with an explanation and justification of the sampling method Colorado Cab believes is more accurate for purposes of evaluating whether record keeping violations of Commission rules have occurred.

14. Within 120 days after receipt of Colorado Cab's corrective action report, Staff will conduct a follow up inspection with respect to Counts 2 through 34, which shall include a good faith consultation with Colorado Cab regarding the sampling method used by Colorado Cab in its belief that it more accurately evaluates compliance with the record keeping requirements of the Commission. 

15. If the results, as determined by Staff after the follow up inspection, demonstrate that Colorado Cab's records are in compliance with respect to the regulations cited in Counts 2 through 34 of the CPAN, with a compliance standard of no more than a 10 percent error rate, then the $2,875.00 penalty held in abeyance shall not be due conclusively. If Staff finds the error rate is greater than 10 percent in the follow-up inspection, then Colorado Cab shall pay the $2,875 balance of the civil penalty within ten days after receipt of Staff’s follow up inspection report.
16. The alleged violations arose from a safety and compliance review conducted by Staff.  Although Colorado Cab disagrees with the sampling method used by Staff to allege violations, Colorado Cab has accepted the results for this case only.  Colorado Cab also submits that immediate corrective action was taken and that further action is being taken on an ongoing basis.  Colorado Cab has agreed to submit a report to Staff as provided in the Stipulation.

17. Staff is satisfied that the Stipulation will provide sufficient incentive for Colorado Cab to comply with the public utility law and the Commission's rules in the future, while recognizing that Colorado Cab will continue to operate as one of the largest taxicab businesses in the Denver metropolitan area.

18. Good cause having been demonstrated for the acceptance of the Stipulation, it will be accepted.  However, the procedures contemplated among the parties require some modification.  While this decision will result in assessment and partial suspension of a civil penalty, the parties have not contemplated a procedure definitively resolving the suspended portion of the penalty.  Based upon the proposed procedures, the Commission’s file would not reflect final disposition and resolution.  To that extent, the Stipulation is not clear and understandable, and administratively enforceable.  Accordingly, the Stipulation will be modified and supplemented to require Staff to file notification regarding the follow-up inspection.

II. order

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. The Joint Motion to Approve Stipulation and Settlement Agreement filed December 12, 2007, is granted in part.  The request to waive response time is denied as moot.
2. The Stipulation and Settlement Agreement (Stipulation) filed December 12, 2007, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix A, is approved as modified by this Decision.  

3. The Stipulation is incorporated by reference and made an order of the Commission as if fully set forth herein.  All parties shall comply with all terms of the Stipulation, except as modified or superseded by the remainder of this Decision.

4. Count 1 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 84642 is dismissed with prejudice.

5. Colorado Cab Company, LLC (Colorado Cab) is assessed a penalty of $9,875 for 13 violations of 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6-6102, 49 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) 395.8(a) [Counts 2 through 14]; and 20 violations of 4 CCR 723-6-6102, 49 C.F.R. 396.3(b)(3) [Counts 15 through 24]. However, $2,875 of the civil penalty assessed is suspended on the condition that: (1) payment in the amount of $7,000 is received by the Commission within ten days after this Decision becomes final; (2) within 30 days after this Decision is final, Colorado Cab will submit a corrective action report with respect to Counts 2 through 34 of No. 84642 to Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) with an explanation and justification of the sampling method Colorado Cab believes is more accurate for purposes of evaluating whether record keeping violations of Commission rules have occurred; (3) within 120 days after receipt of the corrective action report, Staff will conduct a follow-up inspection with respect to Counts 2 through 34 of No. 84642, which shall include a good faith consultation with Colorado Cab regarding the sampling method used by Colorado Cab in its belief that it more accurately evaluates compliance with the record keeping requirements of the Commission.

6. If Staff determines through the follow-up inspection that Colorado Cab's records are in compliance with respect to the regulations cited in Counts 2 through 34 of the CPAN, with a compliance standard of no more than a 10 percent error rate, then Staff shall file a notice to that effect in this docket within 180 days after this Decision is final and the $2,875.00 penalty shall be permanently suspended.  If Staff determines that the error rate is greater than 10 percent in the follow-up inspection, then Staff shall file a notice to that effect in this docket within 180 days after this Decision is final, the suspension shall immediately expire, and any remaining balance of the total assessed penalty shall be due and payable to the Commission within ten days thereof.
7. If Colorado Cab violates any part of the condition for the suspension of a portion of the civil penalty, the suspension shall immediately expire and any remaining balance of the total assessed penalty shall be due and payable to the Commission within ten days thereof.
8. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

9. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.
If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


G. HARRIS ADAMS
________________________________
Administrative Law Judge
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